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IN THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIJI ISLANDS 
ON APPEAL FROM THE HIGH COURT OF FIJI 

BETWEEN: 

Appellants 
AND: 

Coram: 

Hearing: 

CIVIL APPEAL NO. ABU0043 OF 1998S 
(High Court Civil Action r'lo.HBC 239 

& 240 of 1992L) 

MANUBHAI INDUSTRIES LIMITED 
ELISHA ENGINEERING COMPANY LIMITED 

LAUTOKA LAND DEVELOPMENT (FIJIlL/MITED " .\ 
THE ATTORNEY-GENERAL OF FIJI . 

Sheppard JA, Presiding Judge 
Tompkins JA . 
SmeflieJA 

I, 

Monday, 19 November 2001, Suva 

Respondent 
~ 

Counsel: Mr. A. K. Narayan for the Appellants 
Mr. D. Sharma for the First Respondent 
Mr. W, Calanchini for the Second Respondent 

DateOfJUdgment:M4 ) .;IS (~R\..tJ 2-001. (J~ 

Introduction 

. J, 

, INTERIM JUDGMENT OF THE COURT, . 

, 
. j 

The appellants separate actions first filed in the High Court in April of 1992 
'. ; ~ . i I' • ~ 

were consolidated in October of 1993 and in February of 1995 t~e trial commenced iri, 
• "I ,: ~ 

the Lautoka High Court. The hearing had to be adjourned from'time'to time and was 

finally.. ,concluded in July of 1996 when a timetable for filing written submissions was 

established. There were some administrative difficulties and submissions were filed late , . 

. ! , , 

,. 

, . 

,. 

,. 

,. 
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so that the judgment was not delivered until June 1998. Thereafter these appeals " 

were filed. 

• I, t. 

In the High Court the appellants succeeded on liability as against the first ~ . \ , . 

respondent Lautoka Land Development. It was held however, that'there was insufficient! 

evidence to award damages. The judgment also held that both appellants failed on a 

variety of causes of action against the Attorney-General who was sued as for the 

Director of Lands. 

The factual and legal issues in the appeal are complex and will be! 

discussed in detail to the extentrequired, in the balance of this judgment. 

Factual background: undisputed facts 

.', I . ;' 

The Director of Lands (conveniently referred to 'he~eafter as the second 

respondent) was the owner of certain land at Lautoka known as the Navutu Industrial 

Subdivision, Initially the second respondent intended itself to subdivide the land and 

lease parcels of it to individual tenants for industrial purposes. Subsequently, however, 

it was decided to put the subdivision to tender for private development on the basisthat 

the developer could sell individual lots to prospective purchasers who would then; , , 

become tenants of the second respondent on 99 year leases. 

The first respondent was the successful tenderer and thereby secured the 

right to develop the project initially over a period of two years commencing on the 1st of 

November 1984. 

On the 8th of April 1986, some seven months before the subdivision was 

due to be completed, the first respondent sold to the first appellant (Manubhai) lot 33 

" 

, , , 
. ~ 
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! , 

on approved scheme plan 771 for a total price of $70,000. 00 Then on the 28th of May 

1986 the first respondent sold to the second appellant (Elisha) lots 35 and 36 on the 

same scheme plan for a total purchase price of $38,000.00. ,When the two sales were 

effected it was obvious that the development was not goingtob~ completeby 1't of 

November 1986. Indeed on the 13th of August 1986 thesee:onct 'resPo~dentissued ~ 
" , i, t J 

further development lease to Lautoka for a period of 3 years 2 months and 19 days 

which effectively stretched the original two year period for development to 5 years. 

When the 5 year period was up, however, the development was still,far 
... '. ; I . :' '.: -~ . "::. . 

from complete. The first respondent then allowed a further period of 8 years and 2 

months expiring on the 1st February 1998. During this third extension the first 

defendant ran out of resources and on the 8th of May 1995 Lautoka was placed in 

receivership by the Fiji Development Bank. By this time the bank was owed $1.1 m 

Although the second respondent endorsed his consent on th,e memoranda; 
" " ,-, . 

of agreement for sale between the appellants and Lautoka on the 27th of January 1988', 
'! - J 

the second respondent refused to issue approval notices (the equivalent of agreements 

to lease) until the subdivision was completed. 

In due course the bank decided to complete the subdivision subject to. the 
I' ! • 

two appellants and presumably others, agreeing to an increase in purchase pric~, of, 
, \ ' , . . . 

their lots of 20%. The ~dditional cost to the bank to complete wa~ apparently in excess I 

of $Sm but ultimately on the 23rd of January 2001 the appellants received title to their 

lots and were then free to bui,ld upon them .and commence to use them for,commercial 

purposes. 

"( 

" 
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The coup of 1987 affected progress on all devel6pments ,including theonE1 

in question and is part of the explanation for the length of the third extension which the 

second respondent granted. 

While the appellants could have commenced building ,on thet lots ,they ,had, 
" ' ~ . - ", . 

purchased prior to the i,ssue of leases, nonetheless they would not have had title for the' 
!' ! 

same. Not surprisingly they could not raise finance for such building until the leases' 

were issued. 

The Legal framework of the transactions 
, , . 

All the land in the subdivision in question belongs to the State. When the' 

approval notice of lease (agreement to lease) was issued by the second respondent to 

Lautoka with effect from 15t of November 1984 it contained an express provision reading , 

"this is a protected lease under the provisions of the Crown Lands Act." Section 13 of 

the Crown Lands Act, cap 132 provides: 
, , , 

'; 

"Whenever in any lease under this Act tflere flas been in;erted the 
following clause ;-

This lease is a protected lease under tile provisions of 
the Crown Lands Act (hereinafter called a protected 
lease) it sllall' 1I0t be lawful for the lessee thereof to 
alienate or deal witfl the land comprised in the lease or 
any part thereof, wflet/ler by sale, transfer, or;subr/ease, 
or in any other manner whatsoever, nor tomortgage,i, 
charge or pledge the same, without tf1e written qonsent" 
of tf1e Director of Lands first f1ad obtained, nor,' except 
at tIle suit or with the written consent of the Director of 
Lands, shall any such lease be dealt witf1 by any court of 
law or under tf1e process of any court of law, nor, 
without sucf1 consent as aforesaid, shall the Registrar of . 
Titles register any caveat affecting sucf1 ~ease. 

Any sale, transfer, sub-lease, assignment, m.ortgage or'" 
other alienation or dealing effected without such 
consent shall be null and void." 

,. 

" 
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I " 

, As 'between Lautoka and the second respond~nton the one hand and 

L~~toka and, the appellants on the other, the legal framework within which the 
-' 

appellants' leases would ultimately issue may be summarised as follows. First Lautoka 

obtained an agreement to lease for the period approved for the development of the 
. " "" . 

subdivision subject to any extensions that might be' gra;ted.1 Purfuant to(that 

agreement Lautoka was permitted to sell lots from the approved· sch~rT1e plan which 
.' " : ','! ~ I 

sales, however, would be null and void without the written consent of the Director of 

, 

Lands as envisaged by section 13 of the Crown Lands Act set out above. When the " 

subdivision was completed, and the purchasers had agreed to purchase and had paid 

the purchase price, they were to be nominated by the second.resppnden~ for the i~sue, ' 
, ,., \ " '. 

of approval notices and ultimately Land Transfer Act leases., In' a number orcases: 
t J 

approval notices were issued long before completion but that did not occur in the case 

of the appeHants, 

The agreements entered into between Lautoka and each oflhe appellants 
. >:: ,:) , .' , ;\ ' . ;. 

were in a standard form. Having set out the parties the recitals recorded that Lautoka: 
i 

had obtained an approval notice, or lease to develop stages 1, 2 and, 3 of the Navutu! 

Industrial Subdivision and was required to complete the subdivision pursuant to' the 

scheme plan and the local body approvals given, but otherwise had authority to sell lots 

the purchasers of which would ultimately receive 99 year leases from the State. 

The specific terms of each agreement can be summarised as follows: " 
. ! 

The appellant agreed to purchase and the developer (Lautoka) agreed to complete the ' 

I development. Upon completion the developer would nominate the appellant to the 

I 
I 
I 

second respondent for the issue of a lease~ Additionally the developer within 14 days 

from the date of the agreement was to furnish the lessee with a letter from the Director 
. , .', 'i ," -,' :':' 1 

of Lands confirming that the Director of Lands would issue a croWn induitrial lease to :; 
, ,! ,~ . 

" 
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the lessee of the appropriate lot or lots on the scheme plan: The purchase price wa,sto, '. 
. .:;' .' . .'~.::. < '. I 

be paid in the case of Manubhai by way of a deposit of $10,000.00 .and the balance'o( 
. :' !".' ,.,' t 

$60,000.00 over a period of 24 months. That is by the 8th of April 1988. 

, . 

In Elisha's case the purchase price of $38,000.00 was to be paid by a 

deposit of $3,000.00 and the balance of $35,000.00 over a peri~d ofi24 m9nths~ 

by the 28th of May 198~. .... .. \ 

That is . 

There was a schedule of conditions attached to each agreement. The first 

condition provided, inter alia,' "the developer will at the expense of the developer in all 

things proceed without undue delay to take all necessary steps to' construct all, 
: ~ , ; :: .' I ! . : :. .::' , 

necessary roads, culverts, drains, sewerage lines, water mains and ancillary works; 
i 

(referred to as the "project works") and cause the necessary survey plan of the said. Loti 

to be prepared and lodged with the Lands Department for approval .... " 

Manubhai's Claim in the High Court 

As to liability it was claimed that the provisions of the agreement of sale I 

which had been entered into had not been complied with in that Lautokahad :riot 

completed the development. The letter which was to issue from the Director of Lands 
, 

within 14 days was never forthcoming and the developer had not proceeded without 

undue delay. Nor ,had it taken all necessary steps to complete: i . , " " 

ie 
, 

Manubhaiclaimed damages up to the date of trial on the ,basis that it had I 

expected to be able to build in 1988 and profit from running its business from the land 

purchased. Its claim therefore was based upon the difference in the cost of building 

between 1988 and 1994 and loss of profits over the same period. The total claim was 
. J 

$1.59m 

l' 

" 

" 

" 
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Elisha's Claim in the High Court ,. i , . 

! ! 

Elisha claimed on the same basis as to liability namely that the subdivision' 

was never completed. The letter of approval from the Director of Lands never issued " 

and the developer had not proceeded without undue delay nor had .it taken all 

necessary steps to complete the subdivision. 
,: ! 

Elisha also presented its damages claim on the basis of the additional' 

costs of building as at 1994 plus loss of profits to 1994. In addition, extra cartage costs 

as a result of not being able to trade from the land purchased and additional running 
" . 

expenses on the same basis were claimed. The amount claimed was $O.82m .. 

The decision under appeal 

The trial Judge held for the appellants against the first respondent Lautoka 
, 

on the issue of liability on the basis of the breaches of contract set out above. That 

holding is not challenged. , ,i. 

I 

The only remedy granted upon that finding of liability, however, was in' 

effect specific performance. 

Although his Lordship discussed the rule in Hadley v. Baxendale (185~}9, 

" 

j' . 

. ! I' 

Ex. 349 and the restatement of that rule in Victoria Laundry v. Newman [194912KB528 ( 

(CA) he nonetheless decided the issue of damages on the basis that the plaintiffs were I 

required to show a difference in value between what they paid for land in 1986 and the 

value of the land when they b,ecame aware of the first respondent's breaches. 
4.~ • I 

,. 

" j 

:f 

.~ 

" 

, 
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At page 114 'of the record' after setting out the claims of $1.59m and' 

~~;'~~I~, referred; to earlier his Lordship said: , i ,. 
. ; 

"But as stated above the damages must be "assessed as the 
. difference between the price actually paid and the value of the/and 
at the time of the breach. Since no date for completion appears in 
the respective agreements it would be open to tbeplaintiffs to allege 
any completion date that entered their minds. T/1e date of' 
competition was left open i.e. for completion to be affected in a 

,',' ,. reasonable time. Altbough the Plaintiffs Ilad establisbed breaches of , 
, i'contrac(against the First Defendant tlley failed to adduce evidence ,:' 
/as to the;value of the lots at the time of the breacll,-itis not possible 

to say as to the time of tbe breach. Unless tbese lots begir; changil1g 
'hands in their undeveloped state it would be vel}' difficult to obtain 

, , evidence as to enhancement, if any, in their value since 1986. Once 
the various plots are developed by the erection of buildings and the 
laying of gardens and so fortb, the task of reconciling this develope'd 
value with an earlier undeveloped price would be difficult' if not 

, 'impossible. There is no evidence from tbe Plaintiffs as to tile current 
market value of the lots sold. " ", ' 

Tuming now to the judge's conclusions regarding the appellant's claim 

, 'Cl9C1inst the second respondent. His Lordship observed first that the appellants claim 
., "", .. ' 

,.. C1gainst, the second respondent was based on collateral contract; agency; legitimate 

,',::'~~~p,ecl:atil::>n/'eslloppel; and breach of duty care and or negligence. , 
i'. , 

I \' 

Each one of these propositions was addressed in the judgment. ; The 

" 

collateral contract proposition was dismissed on the grounds that "the facts do not " 

support that there was a collateral contract". In particular the judge pOinted out that the 

appellants' dealings were all with the first respondent and accordingly there was, no 
: : " 'l • . . 1 

room for a separate collateral contract to arise between the appellants and the second, 
i 

respondent. 

The second proposition was that the first respondent was the agent of the , 
second respondent. By that means no doubt the appellants hoped to fix the second 

" 
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;······r~sporldent with the first respondent's defaults. But the judge held that on the evidence . , 

proposition failed completely. 

.: I , ' 

, Thirdly the judge dealt with the doctrines of waiver and ~stoppel. Here hE[ 
, ,'.'- -' -. 

acknowledged that the appel/ants relied on the waiver by the second respondent of 

strict compliance with the development lease. His lordship held, however, that there 
, 

was certainly no cause of' action in waiver because there was no evidence of an 

agreement or a request by one party for forbearance by the other ~md noagreernent to . -,,", , " ", - .. r : . !. 

such a request.· The estoppel argument was also dismissed,on the grounds that there 
. l ' . 

. ' '! ! 
was no evidence that the appel/ants had altered their position to their detriment on the 

basis of any representation made by the second respondent. ' 
" 

The argument based upon legitimate expectation was summarily 
: : .:: I " I .: j.: 

dismissed. The view expressed was that the only expectationtheappellants couldhav~ 

had was that the second respondent would issue approval notices and subsequently 

leases when the subdivision was completed and title was deposited. AS' neither of 

those things had happened at the time of trial the legitimate expectation cause of action , 
failed. 

, 
~ " 

Final/y the judge dealt with the al/egation of br4ach of qutyof care owe~ 

by the second respondent to the appellant. At page 110 of the record the judgment 

reads: 

"It flas been submitted that the Second Defendant did not' make 
proper investigation before granting Approval Notice. to tile First 
Defendant to develop tile land in question andth,e First Defendant 
still has not developed the land tllat the Plaintiffs /Jave suffer~dasa .. 
result. " ' , . . , 

Reference was made to Abhay Shankar· and Another v. Housing 
" .. I 

Authority and Lautoka Rural Local Authority FCA Civil Appeal NO.55 of 1991 but the 

" 
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. , , ' 

judge distinguished that case from the circumstances confronting him. He said later on 

page 110 of the record : 

.' :':- i ",' 
"But in the instant case First Defendant was1n breach Of 
contractual agreement with the Plaintiffs. Althougll tile 
Second Defendant was to see tile First" Defendant 
developed the land (sic) fulfill its obligations to tile 
prospective purchasers it owed no (juty of care in my 

! I. 

view to the Plaintiffs." ' 

The broad issues on appeal . 
~ . 

I 

While the matter was put in various ways by counsel before us in our view 

there are two broad issues in this appeal. 

First is the question of whether the appellants should have been awarded 
, !, ~,: .: ' 

damages against the first respondent and if so in what amounts. ' ' , i " 
• 

Secondly is the question of whether the appellants should have 

succeeded against the seco\1d respondent, and if so on what causes of action and what 

amounts of damages should have been awarded. 
-; . 

\ .' 
Features common to both appellant's claims for da~ages a,gainsf the first 

respondent 

1. 

These may be enumerated as follows .. 

, ' 
i 

Both appellants signed up within a few months of the expiry of the first twoyear 

period. The evidence shows that the project was far from complete at that stage 

and the inference can be drawn that neither appellant expected the title to be 

available and to issue by 1 st November 1986. 

, , , 

" 

I' 
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3. 

4. 

5. 

6: 

;', ! ~ ", 

" 11 
;, 

" Both were affected by the 1987 coup, The evidenceas to the coup's effect on 

economic activity was conflicting. Mr. Daniel Elisha who was President of the Fiji 

Chamber of Commerce at the time gave evidence thatthe effect was short'Iived. ' 
, ' , " i . . 

, The Director of Lands on the other hand gave evidence to the effect that all land 
! ' ! 

development stalled for 2 years until 1989. On the balance of probabilities the 

Director's view is the more reliable. 

The second respondent gave his consent tobothi tran~actions whe~ 
: "." \ " . . ; 

approximately 80% of the purchase price had been p'aid,;on 2ih January 1988. 
.,: ." J 

Up until then the contracts between the appellants and, the first Respondentwere 

subject to Section 13 of the Crown Lands Act referred to earlier. 

Both appellants intended to erect on the land they were purchasing from the first 

" 

" -' I :, ,. '. .: ,!", 

Respondent commercial premises to facilitate and enhance the',profitability of 

their respective businesses. 

Both appellants gave evidence that in the period between purchase and the 

issue of the leases when they would finally be able to borrow and build thecost 

of construction had risen. The period from the second" respondent's cohsent 

pursuant to clause 13 of the Crown Lands Act to tHe issue oftitle (I.e. ' 2ih , " ' , ! 

January 1988 to 23rd January 2001) is a period of 13 'years. 

Neither appellant established that the first respondent was aware of any 

particular use 'that the land was to be put to or,any special commercial 
;' >', - 1. .!. '. . j 

opportunity which was dependant upon timely issue of the approval notice 
,.0'. ! ! 

(agreement to lease) or titles. In that sense the second rule in Hadley v. 

" 

Baxendale (supra) had no application. But it was reasonably foreseeable on the , 

. t 
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! 

part of the first respondent that delay in completion would' result in loss, ih 

particular in relation to the loss of use of capital paid up to purchase and " 

increased costs in relation to the erection of premises from which business 

activities could be conducted. 
, 
\ . 

It was further reasonably foreseeable that complete failure' by the first respondent 

to bring the development to fruition, resulting in a creditor stepping in and " 

completing would result in added costs to the appellants. The evidence admitted , 

on affidavit in respect of events subsequent to the High Court hearing identifies 

those extra costs in each case. 

! ' ,! 
During the hearing it was put to Mr. Narayan counsel for the appellants that the, only 

reasonably foreseeable categories of loss were the three discussed above i.e. loss of t, 

use of capital, increased' building costs and increased'· acquisition 'costs as a 

consequence of .the first respondent's failure resulting in, its, creQitors ~tepping in to , 
; • .' ,c" ': v,,- ' , ',:" l. 

complete. Counsel was not able to suggest any other basis for the assessment of 
: . I' ! 

damages. Mr. Sharma appearing for the first respondent on the instructions of the 

Receiver was not able to advance any argument to support the conclusion in the court 

below that despite a finding of liability no damages should be awarded to the 
<:- . I " . , :', .. 

appellants. Mr. Sharma also accepted that the assessment of damages should be 
. ' ' , '. -',' " . I 

based upon the above three categories. 

There is a further feature c9mmon to both appellants whic:;h concerns 

timing. When reasonably could they have expected that the subdivision would be. 

completed and approval notices and/or leases issued so that b~i1ding could commence?' 
, I ..' . , . ~ '." ! 

How many years delay can it reasonably and fairly be said either the first or the second 

, I 

L' 

" 
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( . ;.' 

\', 
And what is the actual time span during which 

" j I 

wcls~ .. ldeI<lYE~dand what evidence is there as to the building costs during that 

Asto when the appellants could reasonably have expected the subdivision 
. . . ~ 

'i 

would be completed,it appears that when they purchased in April and May of .1986 

almost 75% of the first two year period allowed to the first respondent to complete had 

elapsed. It would have bee" glaringly obvious that more than two years were required 
, ' . 

. .. 

to complete. Had the 1987 coup not intervened, it might have been reasonable to 
.', ) 

expect that when a further three years were added the period to November 1989 would 
, \ - c·, • 

, I 

have been sufficient. The Director of Lands evidence was, however, that the 1987 coup 

November 1989 date pushes out to say mid-1991. Af)other inpicatoc is it took the; 

Fijian Development Bank from May 1995 to January 2001 to' complete which also is a 
, ",. ! ' ! 

five year period. 

" 

Just as the coup was unforeseen, so was Hurricane "Kina" and of course 

the lost business opportunities which both appellants relied up6n to jncreasetheir ' 
i . 

damages are not to be taken into account because there is no evidence that the 

respondents knew of them or should have foreseen them - See our earlier discussion of 

the second limb of Hadley v Baxendale (supra). , . 

Damages against the first respondent: Manubhai Indu!>tries 
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th~ basis of the matters discussed in the pr~ceding' section of this 
;'~"i;;;;t~;!,\i:i: ; ': ..... ,! I ,::.' _'j _ - _ .' ....! 

items for which damages can be recovered by Manubhai against tile 

t;rE~sporil:!E!rltare tile three earlier identified: 

, , 
",:'Ilc:re?!,ed bU,ilding cost 

!Inc:re'3se,d acquisition cost to aquire contracted lots 
,. 

I' 

" The loss of use of capital is to be calculated from 30 June 1991 whichWe 

have fixed as tile reasonable time of completion and 23 JalJuary 2001, the actual 

completion date (a period of 9% years). Counsel for both the appellants and tile first ' 
• • • ':" ': > 

respondent accepted that a reasonable return on capital invested in a commercial 
, . : I 

venture would be not less than 15% compounding, On that basis Manubilai stood out 

of the use of $70,000 for 9% years and is entitled to $199,177 compensation for that ' 

loss calculated at 15% per annum compounding. 

, j 

The evidence of Mr Daniel Elisha was that h~ h~d conJac!ed to build 
! ! 

Manubhai's industrial depot and had initially calculated it would cost between $700,000 

and $800,000. Giving evidence in February 1995, he estimated the cost would have 

risen over the period say from the end of 1986fearly 1987 to February 1,995 by 25,%. 

That is an average over the eight years of just over 3% p~r annum. '. Mr Patel for 
. , ,. j ,;,. > ". 

Manubhai gave no evidence of original or increased costs.' ··In the circumstances the 
i 

best we can do is allow as damages for increased building costs'on say $750,000 over 

the period of 9% years at 3% non-compounding a figure of $213,750. 

Finally, there are the increased costs proved by affidavit received on the. '. . -, , 

1\,,: ".', app:al when the Fiji Development Bank decided to complete butonlY,on the basis tha\ 
.,;.~",;,tt~,<';+~ ,""',"' .. 

. :.' 

I" ; i,' -

I 

" 

" 
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!,< ·.f'.'ll;18~'J;0h,;:[~;j~'!,),Hitj;~" f·c ' , 
1
0:;.: i";,all,r.lH~ctia~ers"'OfIotspayan extra 20% on their original purchase price, That cost the 

,'I' 0\;,t'fi~t~~bp~lk~/:a~other $14,000. In addition, 'there would have been some additional 
-'::'::;'_0+ '.:- ,·:',):;~:H:':,::: :.: :}"',{l!',~,;:~:, . ,'/:,: -:<:( ' .. ' :":.t;::', :.; " ,- -. _ . 

li~~}i?li~~I;~~~li~;~~~~~~~ociated with ren.egotiating that increased price. They could not have 

'\;:iJ<"ii~i('~IJ£as'hlgfi'as the $4,805 claimed, however, The bulk of that figure wO,uld be costs 
~;/~,,~i.:;7~,:1~~l~:~~::::ill~:~~ti~~~:t;)::'~':::;~;i~i:;r:~::~t:,:,~:;~,:.f~ ... , 'f' "' " ,- ,~' . -, . .' . 
1:~0~~,~t:j!j~i~f~gRI~~~~\:~lt~'the Issue of the lease which Manubhal would have had to bear in any 
*~)iJ/~,:,~~;,:;:v~I!'~"';<;~i:t7:'i<!~'J~~:' q"r:'.~::;·:1_;: .. ::; :"~:,} ,_" - :",' :" . 
ii~~~gi~i,~);EWeiitMWEfallbW$1 ,000 of additional cost. 

l;i!1r~~.i;t!~;·i~:.~: }:' " ",' 
It:r:ff':'" ", . Ju~gment for the first appellant against the first respondent will therefore 

Il"\c; .,\ ':be;foLthe followmg: 
.:~,:~"":>. " ,~, '~, - ' 

J~~~!<:::::: :;:::rn~,~ 
I:~'" ,"3 , Additional costs to acquire contracted lots 

,-,".,); 

$199,177.00 

$213,750,00 

$15,000.00 

$427,927.00 

I 

The judgment sum of $427,927.00will carry interest at 10% from 

23 January 2001, the date on which the leases issued to the date of this judgment. 

The issue of costs will be discussed later in this judgment. 

The approach to damages for Elisha is all but identical to that adopted for 
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(pUrchase price of $38,000 from 30 June 1991 to 23 January 2001 (9% years) which 
-,:}:F', ,j:",.",,:. ',,',, .< '.'_: , . 
,:j:computes to $1 04,589.00 

i' ~ '~J' '.' (;:~. 

: ':;':'~(;~I '.:}:"::--:, ,',:-' .: 
)<L-:':-:'':: . 
. /.:. .. Mr Elisha gave evidence that the original cost for building for his company 

-:-';'1> I" ," ,'!- ~. 

wCls$182,000 but giving evidence in May 1995 he said the cost at thi3t time would be 

'. $260,000. That represents an increase of over 40% for the eight years in question 

'which is hard to reconcile with his 25% increase in cost for the Manubhai building over 

the same period. It may be, however, that the Elisha Engineering building required 
; 

additional features not present in the Manubhai building. In the circumstances we 

consider an overall increase in costs of 32.5% should be allowed which represents just 

over 4% per annum non compounding for the 9% years involved which represents a 

, recovery under this head of $69,160.00 

The '20% increase represented $7,600 for Elisha and again we would 

: allow $1000 costs associated with renegotiating the original price. 

Judgment for the second appellant against the first respondent will 

therefore be for the following: 

1 

2 

3 

Loss of use of capital 

Increase in building costs 

Additional costs to acquire contracted lots 

$104,589.00 

$69,160.00 

$8,600.00 

$ 182,349.00 

." The judgment sum of $182,349 will carry interest of 10% from 23 January 

. 2001 to the date of this judgment 
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Again the question of costs will be dealt with later in this judgment. 

AppeHants causes of action a{)ainst the second respondent 
i 

We have no doubt the trial judge was right to dismiss the causes of action 

based upon collateral contract and agency substantially for the reasons he gave . 
. , ; . 

Similarly he was right to dismiss the cause of action based upon legitimate 

. •.. ekpettati~n .. L~gitirnatei e~pectation isa relatively recent concept which evolved In the 

. ':. ! - --.... :'- ',"::":':: - ',':-',:" .:'", -' - ':.'-', . :":: ,': , " 

,a~eaofpubHb~l~wwhere?the established procedural approach is an application for 
" -. ,,<:" - .:,' . ,;,':;,1 >. : -,;,,:, , 

·.jJdiCi~1 revieW rather than ~writ for damages. In rare cases there can be exceptions. R 
• " ."",;': i 

.. K LatchanBuses Ltd v. The Attorney General & Poris Autfioriiy of Fiji Civil Appeal No. 
. : . . 

90 of1995 relied upon by the Appellants was such an exception. But this case does not 

qualify in that way. 

The causes of action based upon waiver and estoppel were dealt 

: together by Mr. Narayan, counsel acknowledging that there is a degree of overlap in 

respect of both propositions. Provided the factual foundation is available it is now 
i 

clearly established both in Fiji and elsewhere in the common law world that equitable 

e·stoppel can found a' cause cif action. The law in this area was extensively examined 

by this court· in Pubfic Trustee of Fiji· v. Krishna Nair Civil Appeal No. ABU 0010 of 1996 

: where the judgment of the court at page 7 under the subheading of "Equitable estoppel" 

discussed the applicable law saying: 

" ... it is well established in the law of Fiji and, indeed, the wider scope 
. ,of the doctrine as formulated in Australia and New Zealand in the last 

decade and a half has been accepted and applied by this Court. (See 
for example, Attorney General and Fiji Trade and Investment Board v 
PacoH; Civil appeal number 14 of 1996) 

.~: 
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In the same case at 428 Brennan J set out the matters that must be 
proved, 

"In my OpiniOn, to estab./ish an equitable estoppel, it is for the 
plaintiff to prove that (1) the plaintiff assumed that a particular legal 
relationship would exist between them and, in the latter case, that 
the defendant would not be free to withdraw from the expected legal 
relationship; (2) the defendant has induced the plaintiff to adopt that 
assumption or expectation; (3) the plaintiff acts or abstains from 
acting in reliance on the assumption or expectation; (4) the 
defendant knew or intended him to do so; (5) the plaintiff's action or 
inaction will occasion detriment if the assumption' or expectation is 
not fulfilled; and (6) the defendant has failed to act or avoid that 
detriment whffther by fulfilling the assumption or expectation or 
otherwise." (emphasis added) 

Brennan' J pOinted out, as did Mason CJ' and Wilson J, that it is the 

.. unconscionable conduct of the defendant that both attracts the jurisdiction of a court of 
; 

.equity and shapes the remedy, Similarly in the case of Commonwealth v Verwayen, 
·'·T' . 

! 
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at 440 Deane J explains that the doctrine of estoppel by conduct 

• good conscience but adds that the notion of unconscionability is better 

He continues; 

Scarman pointed out in National Bank Pic v Morgan, (1985) 
686,definition 'is a poor instrument when used to determine 

wh'ettrera transaction is or is not unconscionable: this is a question 
i<wh'icf,'di~pEm(J's on the particular facts of the case. The most that can 

,"',;;'l"';""'hti'''",'d is that 'unconscionable' should be understood in the sense 

the parties. to be aI/owed' to do ... the question whether conduct is or 
",,,' ",'" >Us not, unconscionable in the circumstances of a particular case, 

; involves a 'real process of reasoninq and iudgment' in which the 
ordinary processes of legal reasoning by induction and deduction 

'. from settled rules and decided cases are applicable but are likely to , 
be inadequate to exclude an element of value judgment in a, 

, I borderline case." (emphasis added) , 

The final cause of action upon which the appellants rely is that pleaded in 

Indeed Mr. Narayan described it as the one upon which he most relied. In 

context of this case the factuaJ matrix necessary to support estoppel overlaps with 

required in negligence. The components of negligence have been variously 

In Charlesworth and Pearcy on negligence 9th Edition at page 60 the 

I·'r'''''''n",nont" are described shortly as : 

, ""1. the existence of the duty to take care, which is owed by the 
defendant to the complainant; 

2. the failure to attain that standard of care, described by the law, 
thereby committing a breach of such duty; and 

3. damage, which is both causally connected with such breach 
and recognised by the law, has been suffered by the 
complainant. " 

Clerk and Lindsell on Torts 1 ih Edition of page 219 sets out a rather more 
,.' 0 ' 
,detailed and academic list of requirements for establishing the tort of negligence. For 

'our purposes perhaps the most useful summary is that sucCinctly set out in the Law of 

"Tortsby Fleming 8th Edition page 105 which reads as follows: 
" I 
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"\";,·+i.:l'elements of the cause of action for negligence may, therefore, 
be'itel'11is'ed as follows: 

; ::' '''_! 'f 

Aduty, recognised by law, requiring conformity to a certain 
,'standard oJ conduct for the protection of others against 
unreasonable risks. This is commonly known as the "duty issue". 

, 2. Failure to conform to the required standard of care or, briefly, 
, bre,ach of t/Jat duty. This element usually passes under the name of 

: , "negligence" . 

• ' 3. Material injury resulting to the interests of the plaintiff •... 
, I 

4. A reasonably proximate connection between the defendant's 
conduct and the resulting injury, usually referred to as the question 
of "remoteness oJ damage" or "proximate cause": 

5. The absence of any conduct by the injured party prejudicial to his 
, recovering in fuf{ for the loss he has suffered. This involves a 
consideration of two specific defences, contributory negligence and 
voluntary assJ)mption of risk." 

The other aspect of the claim calling for some ,comment is the fact that all 

, the damages claimed here are in the nature of economic loss, Here we enter into a 

difficult and evolving area of the law, Initially injury to the person or damage to property 
i 

was required before liability for negligent acts would be imposed. All that changed with 

, Hedley Byrne & Co Ltd v Heller & Partners Ltd [1964J AC 465 where a cause of action 

for negligent misstatement resulting in economic loss was recognised. Since then the 

Courts and academics have struggled with what Lord Denning described as "an 

, impossible distinction" while seeking to identify the circumstances where economic loss 

isi recoverable and at the same time to avoid the opening up of "a field of liability of 
, 

,indeterminate ambit". ,The result to date has been a category by category, if not case by 

case, approach with no finite guidance merging other than the requirement that all 

relevant aspects be considered. Fleming the law of Torts, 9th Edition, published in 

, 1998 at p 202 sets out a summary of what has emerged since Hedley Byrne. It reads 

as follows: , 
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'>. ' 

m'lli,,/.f '/11 f!1ore than three decades' experience with the problem of 
'h;I;;,,,,!, loss since Hedley Byrne relaxed the categorical 

eXii:liJ;si(m~lrv rule, the following generalisations may be tentatively 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

No simple formula will fit the various situations. (One 
important variation is that between cases within and without 

, "the matrix of a contract (see section 7, Tort and Contract); 
another is between situations with a potential of affecting only 
single individuals and others affecting multitudes.) 

In particular, there is no presumptive rule of liability, as there 
is for physical injury caused by active negligent conduct.' 
QUite to the contrary: rather than asking Why not', we should, 
be asking 'Why'. 

Nor has proximity, a catchword which has gained some 
prominence in this context, proved a useful guide for incillsion 
or exclusion; it represents at best, here as elsewhere a 
conclusion reached on grounds of legal policy which ought to 
be specifically and clearly articulated. 

In order to qualify for recovery, a claim must at least pass the 
folfowinghurdJes: 

(a) 

(b) 

The defendant's duty must not be 'indeterminate in 
amount, time and class. ' 

Where the plaintiff had reasona1Jly available alternative 
means for self-protection, for example by contracting 
with the defendant or a third party, and deterrence 
would not otherwise go by default, tort intervention will 
be withheld. 

While reliance is undoubtedly a necessary causal qualification 
in a cla'im for misrepresentation, it is not a,n indispensable 
element in otller situations. 

The decisions discussed in sections 5 imd 6 (as also in 
chapter 22 on defective structures and chapter 28 on 
misrepresentations), straddling the judicial encounter so far 
with the problem of tort recovery for economic loss, provide 
the best guidance for the likely judicial response to situations 
old and new .. " 
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J::on::oir",.t'the second res.pondent on what cause or causes of 

;'qu8nt:tlm of damages 

consider first Waiver and Estoppel. 

., . IN effect, the trial Judge found there had been neither because, as he put 

notalk or representation from the second defendant (respondent)". That 

:":;"'Y;fii~('Ii;;;' is clea'rlY supported by the notes of evidence. What had happened, however, 

thatbetween 1 May 1985 and 1 April 1987, (the appellants it will be recalled had 

.,si~ned up with Lautoka in April and May of 1986) some nine approval notices were 

issued to various entities purchasing lots in stages 1 and 2 of the Navutu Industrial 

. Subdivision and one in stage 3. It appears, however, that most if not all of these related 

':' to dealings before the first respondent became the developer. A representative of the 

'.' .first respondent showed to Mr Daniel Elisha one or more of these earlier notices and 

represented that similar notices would be available to other purchasers. But for Elisha it 

was acknowledged that there was no "direct representation" by or on behalf of the 
• i 

..•. Director of Lahds ahd Elisha did not take legal advice or otherwise make any 

. independent check before Signing up. 

Manubhai and Elisha were closely associated in this matter. Their 

businesses were' complimentary in the building and construction industry. Their 

.. representatives visited the industrial site together and had joint discussions with the 

Lautoka representative before committing to the contracts. Also Elisha was a builder 

and it had been informally arranged that it would construct the building Manubhai had in 

mindJor the lot it intended to purchase. 
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Patel, managing director of Manubhai, gave evidence. His 

"W;!Wi;'d~tE;1~;ed. Linde had made the decision to purchase back in 1986. In his evidence in 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
• 

Mr'Patel said nothing about any representation from Lautoka or anyone else 

'};'fegarding the issue of an approval notice. 

The evidence' of Lautoka and for the Director of Lands confirmed that 
! 

some nine approval notices had been issued. The issue of such a notice to one of the 

first respondent purchasers, however, clearly would have been contrary to the terms of 

,the arrangements between the first and second respondents. A Mr Sharma, a senior 

Lands Department officer, confirmed that the issue of the nine notices "was done by 
i 

mistake". Furthermore, when the holder of the office of Director of Lands changed after 

the 1987 coup, the next incumbent insisted on compliance with the terms of the contract 

between the first and second respondents and refused to issue any further approval 

notices until the subdivision was fully completed and the necessary plans deposited. 

There was no evidence that the second respondent had made any 

representations ,to th~ appellants, let alone agreed, that agreements to lease would 

issue before completion of the subdivision and deposit of the plan. Nor was there 

evidence that the second respondent was aware of the agreements entered into until 

'consents pursuant to s 13 of the Crown Lands Act were sought some 18 months after 

siQning. When the appellants solicitors sought the issue of approved notices by letter 

dated 20 February 1991 the Director of Lands responded that "approval notices of lease 

in respect of your abovenamed client lessees will be issued only when the development 

has been completed". (P 139 of the record) 

'We are of the clear view that what happened between the parties was 
; 

insufficient to establish either Waiver or Estoppel. We need go no further than the two 

. High Court of Australia' cases cited earlier (Waltons Stores (Interstate) Ltd v Maher and 
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:>f~;,;YC~oriim()iJ~ve<llth· V V~riNayen). Those two cases show that to succeed here the 

aOIJel'ilants would have to establish first that they were entitled to rely on an assumption 

by the second respondents lIpon which they had acted to their detriment. 

: Secondly, that for the second respondent to seek to resile from being bound would be 

uhconscionable. 

Brennan J put it this way in Verwayen at p 428: 

"The judgments of a majority of the Court in Waltons Stores v Maher 
held that equitable estoppel yields a remedy in order to prevent 

. unconscionable conduct on the part of the party who, lJaving made a 
promise to another who acts on it to his detriment, seeks to resile 
from that promis.e." 

Also what, in the same case, Deane J said at p 440 (already quoted in 

.: part earlier) on unconscionable conduct bears repeating in full: 

: 

"The doctrine of estoppel by conduct is found~d upon good 
conscienc.e. Its rationale is not that it is right and expedient to save 

. persons from ,the consequences of their own mistake. It is that it is 
right and expedient to save them from being victimised by other 
people. The notion of unconscionability is better described than 
defined. As Lord Scarman painted alit in National Westminster Bank 
Pic v iIlIorgan, (1985) AC 686, definition 'is a poor instrument when 
used to determine whether a transaction is or is not unconscionable: 
this is a question which depends on the particular facts of the case. 
The most i that can be said is that 'unconscionable' should be 
understood in the sense of referring to what one party 'OUght not, in 
conscience, as between the parties, to be aI/owed' to do. In this as in 

. other . areas' . of equity-relailed doctrine, conduct which is 
'unconscionable' will commonly involve the use of or insistence 
lipan legal entitlement to take advantage of. another's special 
vulnerability or misadventure in a way that is unreasonable and 
oppressive to an extent that affronts ordinary minimum standards of 
fair dealing. That bein.g so, the question whether conduct is or is not 
unconscionable in the circumstances of a particular case involves a 

,. 'real process of consideration and judgment' in which the ordinary 
processes of legal reasoning by induction and deduction from 
settled rllles and decided cases are applicable but are likely to be 
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: 
inadequate to exclude an element of value judgment in a bordet1ine 
case such as the present." 

As recorded· above, the second respondent made no representation by 

words or conduct to induce:an assumption that approval notices would issue before the 
Ie . 

subdivision Was completed. Furthermore, the second respondent was unaware that the 
" . -:.:: .,: ",'_ ' :1:. :':--, , ':,:;::"-" "": 

appellants had contracted with the first respondent until some eighteen months after the 

event. That being. so, there is no basis in our view upon which it could be said that the 

, second respondent's refusal to issue approval notices was unconscionable. In our view 

the Director of La rids who took over after the coup, properly in the State's interests, 
I " , ". ' 

insisted on the', terms of the contractual arrangement with the first respondent being 
" ',;:, 

,". ,;:':' ."',' '[.- :,- . 
complied with before agreements to lease or leases under the Land Transfer Act 

issued. ~ad the appellants taken legal advice or otherwise made appropriate enquiry 

'., independent of the first responclent, they would have been alerted to the correct 

position .. 

Turning to the final cause of action based upon negligence and bearing in 

'mind our earlier comments regarding the recovery of economic loss. There are two 

. aspects to this part of the case. First, there is the allegation that by issuing the nine 

: approval notices to the purchasers of other lots, the second respondent had 

represented to the appellants that they too would be issued with the same notices prior 

to the completion of the subdivision. 

It can be said at once that there is no indication in the evidence that the 

'second respondent agreed to shoulder any responsibility to the appellants by issuing 

the notices to the nine third parties. That, however, is not necessarily the end of the , 
matter.pecausein neglig.ence actions the Court in effect simply imposes responsibility 

! . , 
where negligent words or actions are relied upon by sufficiently proximate plaintiffs. So 

the crucial question on this part of the case is whether there was a sufficiently close or 
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I 
"spe6ial"r~11tW~~nip ~twe.en the appellants and the second respondent to justify the 

I ·i';impo'Sitio;ji&f~'~U~."" 
,;, '.;"«" ':"~,.y:j, ,_ . .':;.i 

':-;;"~"'.' ,. -, ',- , ,- ·~,\~.:·::-:F::,.~·· 

I
"..... •.... ,:;i·':'C.;", '., .. :.::':\ .. , .•. ,.... . "0 

;'-':: ~ ~~·,:;~}:;~,::',;f::::\{l{~l~;·~: ',:,:;:~?;z~t~;~~.~:~·ii~!~·~,h~:;~,L:i::~b~.:<?,:;,;' '\~-.:- _; :..... :.-
·'··.'·l;;t'~:Y';;:Oqfdlsci.Jssion earlier in this section of the judgmentregarding the facts in 
, ," :':~::::::"'" :.h, :<,:~,;.;:'P'/~,{:;~W£~~:::·r::.'~·;~i;::,:'_';'::··;'~:::};:' :.>.' ,: :,-,:::: .. 

I.,' ,',\lrr~latl~h't~!~~!~~~~Cfrl?:wa}\IeriS again relevant here. As the second respondent made 

i.n9ire:PresenU:(H6'iis(ilrectlyor indirectly to the appellants and was indeed unaware of 

I? ':dth~i~"{i~t~fg~f~iu~om~ time later, there was no special ~r close relationship. The 
"_,' ... »t:,.',_:;:.:::,_,',:,,;:~.{~'_,_ -_:«;::::;,;::;.".:~ " '_ . 

representation's)he appellants relied upon were in fact made by the first respondent 
. ,',.:.':_} ... '. '.y :>~~1;";"; };;:::>;';'>- ~-: :::_~::}. '" -:; , I'· :,·,:i." .' ,,'," ., . 

",iJsin§'approva}"riotices .issued by the second respondent to third parties, There is no 
.,;:'::L.:;:~_<. :.J::.::;.;)<:;;:~ '.' .-;:.:~:<.:n:,':_~:::'.-:'~'·:.:;-:i~··· > ..... ' '. I'. ···,;l:.eyi,~f:~C:iJ~l:at~~e secpnd respondent knew of the use the first respondent was making 

';.'ohhose·notices,or even that it had possession of them, far less that the Direc~or of 
I ;"'.. ".-:.':' 

I····· .·;.lLand~'wd~ldhaveapproved had he known. 
;':;:i 

I. "", Those being the facts, we are satisfied that this leg of the appellants' 

Fl~gHgence claim fails especially as the more cautious approach adopted by the House 

I,JQ~LO~dS i~ caparo In'dustries Pic v Dickman [1990] 2 AC 602 is now followed by the 

I" 
1 
I 
I 

..... Courts in Canada, Australia and NewZealand. 

The alternative basis upon which the negligent cause of action is 

I. cost $5 million plus to complete, The contention is that the Registrar of Lands should 

have assessed the first respondent's suitability for such a major development because it 

I 
1< 
I 
• 

. ,was ~Ejadily apparent, that if it did not have the capacity to see the matter through, 

investors such as the appellants would suffer financially. The appellants, it was 

" 
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.~lijTicienl:ly approximate and discrete group for the law to impose 

le~!Vi(jerlce.was, however, that despite the fact that the Director himself 

,n"ioirlt=i"t:>.rI· carrying the development of the industrial subdivision through, 

';;:';'"",Iot"il,, on his files as to what it would have cost Nor were there any 

Hi Of;irl,;(~s,tia;3ticm as to the first respondent's suitability, either on a stand-alone 

campa reid' with other tenderers to undertake such a major enterprise. Finally, 

:a~i,!2;"iri~ . was that supervision and site inspections to see whether the' first 
• . I 

'eslJorldent was performing were sporadic and over some periods non-existent 

Given those circumstances, if a duty is held to have existed, there may be 
',' ','," ." 

·':a'sufflcient evidential foundation for finding that it had been breached. 

It' is at' this point we must return to a closer consideration of the 

circumstances under which economic loss for negligent conduct can be recovered. 

Before doing this, however, we record the manner in which the trial Judge dealt with the 

issue. At p .110 of th.e record His Lordship said: 

"Fifthly, the Plaintiffs also rely on breach of duty and negligence to 
'. found liability of the Second Defendant. The Plaintiffs rely on 
paragraphs 13 and 14 of their Statements of Claim. For Plaintiffs to 
succeed they must establish that there was a duty of care owed to 
them ,by the Second Defendant. It has been submitted that the 
Second Defendant did not make proper investigation before granting 
Approval Notice to the First Defendant to develop tbe land in 
question and tbe First Defendant still bas not developed the land that 
the Plaintiffs have suffered as a result. The Plaintiffs referred to the 
case of Abhay Shanker and Another v Housing Authority and 
Lautoka Rural Local Authority FCA Civil Appeal No. 55 of 1991. Here 

. the plaintiffs had bought a piece of land from tbe Housing Authority 
which had failed to disclose that power lines ran along a 30 links 
reserve or easement across plaintiffs' land. The ,second defendant, 
Lautoka Rural Local Authority had approved a building plan which 
was contrary to certain laws. The Court held that both the 

, 
)'., 

t 
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sfowelrJa duty of care to the plaintiffs and were liable for 
rtal'1iages. The negligence was based on certain breaches 

But in the instant case First Defendant was 
f;q,piil~ra(:tLIC~l agreement with the Plaintiffs. Although the 
~ii'rJaiif,~V'as to se.e tlJe First Defendant developed the land 

pli!i,ati,Ms to tpe prospective purchasers it owed no duty of 
[y'vifew·to.the Plaintiffs." 

at the end of his judgment on p 114 and on to p 115 His Lordship 

ri):>rh':ir·,".obiter dicta but certainly contrary to his earlier finding: , 
, 

"Hj)wl~ve'·r., I do like to add that tIle Office of Director of Lands takes a 
.'.:":,;;:':+ ••.. ' •. "".;. large part of the blame in the delay of the competition of this 'Navutu 

," Industrial SUbdivision'. Full and proper inqllilY, sho/Jld have been 
. ;.",' made 'before gran1ing approval notice to the First Defendant, Lautoka 

' .• '.' Land Development (Fiji) Ltd for the developing of this land in this 
. "Navutu Industrial Subdivision'. This Court cannot make an order 

.'. that the Director of Lands issue leases to the Plaintiffs bllt I do like to 
s.ee speedy action taken by the Office of the Director of Lands to 

.' have this subdivision completed and the plaintiffs be issued with the 
leases which they have been expecting for a long time. The present 

.. situation can only be described as a mess fraught with further 
possible actions. The Office of the Director of Lands is morafly 
bound to unscramble the mess it has created. The only just solution 

:, is the development to be completed as soon as possible and the 
Plaintiffs get their leases." 

The rejection in the finding on p 110 of the Abhay Shankar case suggests 

a preference for th.e English approach as exemplified in the decision of the House of 

Lords in Murphy v Brentwood District Council [1991]1 AC:398 although that decision 

.1 has not b'een followed ~n New Zealand, Australia and Canada, The New Zealand 

situation is informative because the law for that Dominion was finally settled in the Privy , . 

Council where the majority of the Judges were also members of the House of Lords. In 
'ii 

the Privy Council, however, in Invercargill City Council v Hamlin [1996] 1 NZLR 513, 

. Lord-·t.!oyd delivering the judgment of their Lordships said at p 519 after a careful and I."'; detailed survey of both New Zealand and English authority at line 55 and onto p 520: . 

I 
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~li~!I'~'~~!tl!~I~~~!~!ipr,esE!flt. case the Judges in the New Zealand Court of cons,r:ious,'v departing from English case law on tile 
Ofi~iii"if~that·;, c.Onditions in New Zealand are different. Were they 

. ' 

The answer must surely be yes. The ability of 
adapt itself to the differing circumstances of the 

"'\"';.',iI,"'V'< iJffjiesinwh.;Ch it is taken root, is not a weakness but one of its 
Were it not so, the common law would not have 

fld,;]rLsh~9das it has, With al/ the common law countries learning from 
"'"",,;,{:.(;}, '+:"';~;:!E!acJ!J .. other ." 

" 

• 1 

" 

, "Those comments of Lord Lloyd are equally applicable to Fiji. No 

arguments on issues of policy or conditions as they apply in the Republic of Fiji 
:.:,'.' .: . J, . " 

were addressed to us. Nor was there any reference to the substantial body of 

case law which has developed in various common law jurisdictions in relation to 

the liability for negligence of Public Bodies. See for example Clark & Lindsell 

18th edition (2000), chapter 12 "Liability of Public Authorities", paragraphs"12-03, 

12-04 and 12-05 and paragraphs 12-19 to 12-25 inclusive; also the discussion 

on policy in relation to Local Authorities commencing at paragraph 12-55. The 

leading New Zealand text, Todd et al "The Law of Torts in New Zealand", 3rd 

edition (2000) at pages 333-348 under the heading "Liability of Public Bodies" is 

also instructive. And in those jurisdictions where, unlike the United Kingdom, . 

Anns v London Borough of Merton [1978] AC 728, is still good law, it seems an 

increasingly sophisticated approach is being taken with particular reference to 

the applicable contractual andlor statutory setting. See the recent judgments of 

the New Zealand Court of Appeal in Turton v Curslake & Partners [2000] 3 

NZLR 406 and of the Supreme Court of Canada in Cooper v Hobart (Neutral 

citation: 2001 SCC 79 File number 27880 - Judgment 16/11/2001). The 

consequence is we do not feel able to decide this issue without further 

assistance from counsel. 

We propose therefore to adjourn this part of the appeal to allow Counsel for the 

appellahts and the second respondent to file further submissions on the above 

points. We also draw attention to chapter 9 of Salmond & Heuston "Law of 

" Torts", 21 st edition, where at paragraph 9.4 on page 201 and following, under 

the heading "Concepts now used to determine the existence of a duty", the 

following factors are considered: 
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Foresight 

Reliance 

Assumption of responsibility 

Proximity 

Just and reasonable 

• Policy 

All the above issues should be addressed. Furthermore, the 9th Edition of 

Fleming, "The Law of Torts" also has an interesting and informative commentary 

commencing at page 193 under the heading "Economic Interests". We will also 

require submissions on the terms and significance of the Crown Lands Act 

(CAP. 123), a copy of which should be provided. 

We call for these submissions promptly but recognising that counsel will have to 

have time to carry out the appropriate research. 

We require the appellant's submissions to be filed with the Registrar of the 

Court of Appeal in Suva for distribUtion to the Attorney General and the 

members of the Court within 21 days of the handing down of this interim. 

judgment. The respondent's submissions in reply are to be similarly filed for 

distribution within 21 days of receipt of the appellant's submissions. The 

appellant may reply (strictly addressing only new points or authorities) within 

seven days of the receipt of the respondent's submissions. We emphasise that 

the above timetable must be strictly adhered to. This Court will again assemble 

in May 2002 when final judgment in this matter will be delivered:'" 

We can indicate, however, that as presently advised we consider the 

measure of damages 'in tort should liability attach to the second respondent would be 

the same as that recorded against the first respondent for breach of contract. 

Before leaving this section, we add by way .of addendum that it will not 

h~ve escaped the parties and their counsel that having resolved all issues in the appeal 
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mai~es should liability be found on this one remaining issue, 

l,t;'i\$(i"',iu!.. commercial resolution. 

application for amendment to plead contributory 

. significant encouragement from one member . of the court, 

for leave to amend the second respondent's pleadings to allege contributory 

..... 'n~gligence on the part of the appellants in the event that the second respondent was 

,J6undliable in negligence .. Upon reflection, however, the court is of the firm view that 
<>. ,; ... ' ,; 'I , 

the application for leave should be refused. The appellants pleaded precise particulars 

ofnegf.igence against the second respondent and those particulars were specifically 

t>· ., responded to by the second respondent in its statement of defence to the appellanfs 

I,', ainended statements of claim. Had an application to raise contributory negligence by 

. rvJayof amendment been made during the course of the trial in the High Court it may 

I···· 

1 
I 
I·· .• ·· 
I> 

I ........•.• ·.·. " 

•• 

well have been allowed, But at this late stage, (over five years after the second 

., respondent's amended statement of defence was filed), to grant such an indulgence 

. would be unjust to the appellants. 
. I 

Decision 

In this interim judgment the first and second appellants' appeals are 

·.'al/owed as against the first respondent and the amount set out on pages 11 and 16 
. ~,-' 

, respectively together with interest thereon are hereby awarded. 

' .. /: -i" 



'''''''''''''''nts' appeals against the second respondent 

The cause of action in negligence as to 

rec;ei~)t of further written .submissions. If, however, 

dalmclQE~S will be as awarded against the first respondent. 

'q()llbllifr'E~cOlvel"y. The appellants will be free in the event of 

'respondents to elect which respondent they will 

of the outcome of the liability issue in respect of the 

ri'i"igaiinst tf:1e second respondent, there will be only one composite 
""". ", ,. ',' . 
<~ppellants since they wer.e represented by the same counsel and 

The costs will be $9,000 in the High Court and $3,000 in this 

)(i€!th€~r\l~ith fiHng fees and reasonable disbursements as fixed by the Registrar. 

Ifl'rjl;p~nor1(if'!'nts are found liable, the first respondent will bear two thirds of the costs 

ri/"Ftnos~~b~c!respond~nt one third. If the second respondent is not found to be liable, 

Co.sts will fall entirely upon the first respondent. 

/1'" 
.... -': .. . ~ . ......... "'~;'~."~ ................ . 

. Smellie JA 
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